Fred House Landlerk

IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

WALTER GREB, et al.,

Plaintiffs, Appellants, and Petitioners,

v.

DIAMOND INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION,

Defendant and Respondent.

AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE, NO. A125472; ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, CITY AND COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO, HONORABLE PETER J. BUSCH, JUDGE, NO. CGC-08-274989

PETITIONERS' OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

TED W. PELLETIER (SBN 172938) Law Office of Ted W. Pelletier 22 Skyline Road San Anselmo, CA 94960 Tel: (415) 454-8783 tedpelletierlaw@comcast.net JACK K. CLAPPER (SBN 83207)
STEVEN J. PATTI (SBN 163773)

ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Can a foreign (Delaware) corporation, whose defective product that it marketed in California causes and will continue to cause injuries to California citizens, escape liability for those yet-to-manifest injuries by dissolving itself and relying on a Delaware law that cuts off post-dissolution suits after three years—or does California law (Corporations Code section 2010) apply to this California case, allowing post-dissolution suits without time limitation?

INTRODUCTION AND REASONS TO REVERSE

This Court has granted review of the Opinion below to address a simple issue: whether California Corporations Code section 2010, which provides that "corporation[s]" that dissolve can still be sued for pre-dissolution misconduct, without temporal limitation, applies not only to domestic California corporations but also to foreign corporations that transacted business in California.

Defendant Diamond International Corporation ("Diamond") was a "foreign" corporation, incorporated in Delaware in the 1930s. Joint Appendix on Appeal ("JA") 35:13, 46-48; see Corps. Code § 171. For almost 50 years, Diamond manufactured products, including asbestos products, and sold them in California pursuant to a state Certificate of Qualification to transact repeated business here. See Petitioner's Request for Judicial Notice in Support of Opening Brief on the Merits ("RJN 2"), Exhs. A, B at 3:14-15, 4:1-7; Corps. Code §§ 2100, 2105-2106. During this time, numerous Californians including plaintiff Walter Greb were exposed to Diamond's defective asbestos products—but would not develop diseases for decades.

¹ For clarity, because the accompanying RJN is petitioners' second RJN in this Court, we refer to it in this brief as "RJN 2."

In the 1980s, Diamond effectively ceased business operations but remained incorporated in Delaware. *See* RJN 2, Exh. B at 3:25-27. For the next two decades, workers exposed to Diamond's asbestos products began to get sick and to sue Diamond, with increasing frequency. *See* RJN 2, Exh. C. As these suits increased, Diamond in 2005 suddenly dissolved itself in Delaware (effective July 1, 2005). JA 46-48.

Just over three years later, Walter developed terminal mesothelioma. In December 2008, Walter and his wife Karen Greb sued Diamond for its past misconduct in exposing Walter to asbestos.² JA 1. Although Diamond is "dissolved," plaintiffs seek compensation from Diamond's multi-million dollar insurance policies that admittedly cover plaintiffs' claims. *See* RJN 2, Exh. B at 17:24-18:27; Corps. Code § 2011 (claims against "a dissolved corporation" may seek compensation from "any insurance assets held by the corporation").

Diamond demurred to plaintiffs' complaint on the ground that Diamond cannot be sued under Delaware law, which provides that, after dissolution, corporations may be sued for only three years. JA 36-37 (citing 8 Del. C. § 278).

But California law is different. Here, dissolving a corporation does not cut off liability for past corporate misconduct. *See* Corps. Code § 2010, subd. (a) (dissolved corporation "continues to exist for the purpose of . . . defending actions").

² Walter died in September 2009, while the appeal below was pending. By order of the Court of Appeal, his wife Karen in October 2009 was "substituted as personal representative/successor in interest of Walter Greb." For brevity and consistency with the Opinion below, we continue to refer to petitioners as Walter and Karen.

Diamond contends—and the trial and appellate courts below ruled—that California's section 2010 applies only to "domestic" (California) corporations and not to any "foreign" corporations. JA 37-40, 114-116; Opinion at 1, 12-15. Thus, the Opinion below rules, Delaware law governs and now cuts off Diamond's liability for all pre-dissolution misconduct. Opinion at 1.

By contrast, plaintiffs contend that section 2010 does apply to those foreign corporations, like Diamond, that transact intrastate business in California.³

And that conclusion—that section 2010 applies to Diamond—is compelled by analysis of the Corporations Code, the California Constitution, and policy considerations:

1. The Corporations Code: Section 2010 expressly applies to "corporation[s]," without specifying "foreign" or "domestic" corporations or limiting its application to either type. But the Opinion below holds that "corporation" in section 2010 means only domestic corporations, based on the appellate court's construction of two other definitional provisions in the same Division of the Code—sections 102 and 162. Opinion at 12-15. According to the Opinion, those sections dictate that "the provisions of the Corporations Code apply to domestic corporations only." Opinion at 12, 13-14.

³ Thus, plaintiffs contend that this case requires a choice-of-law analysis to determine whether Delaware law (three-year limit) or California law (no time limit) governs—and that California law prevails under the governmental-interest analysis. *See* Appellant's Opening Brief on Appeal ("AOB") at 21-25. Although this issue was fully briefed, the courts below did not rule on it. This Court should either rule that California law governs or remand this action for an initial ruling on the choice-of-law issue. *See* Argument Part II below.

But the Opinion is wrong. The relevant language of sections 102 and 162 limits the term "corporation" to "corporations organized under this division" (*i.e.*, Division 1, California's "General Corporation Law," Corps. Code §§ 100-2319). But that language is <u>not</u> synonymous with a "domestic" corporation, which the Code defines as a corporation "<u>formed</u> under the laws of this state" (not one "organized under this division"). Corps Code § 167 (emphasis added). And section 102 effectively provides that the phrase "corporations organized under this division" does <u>not</u> mean "domestic" corporations, applying the Code to both "corporations organized under this division" <u>and</u> specified "domestic corporations"—an additional designation that would be unnecessary if "organized under this division" meant "domestic." *See* Corps Code § 102, subd. (a).

Instead, "organized under this division" is correctly and reasonably interpreted to mean any corporation, domestic or foreign, that follows the organizational procedures set forth in Division 1. And among those organizational procedures in Division 1 are the provisions of Chapter 21, "Foreign Corporations" (sections 2100-2117.1), which specify requirements for foreign corporations to transact repeated business in California.

Specifically, to "transact" business in California (*i.e.*, "repeated and successive" California business, Corps. Code § 191), a foreign corporation must organize itself to comply with California law by, *inter alia*, (1) obtaining a "Certificate of Qualification" to transact business in California (Corps. Code § 2105(a)), (2) naming an agent for California service of process (§ 2105(a)(4)), (3) giving its "irrevocable consent to service of process" in California (§ 2105(a) (5)(A)), (4) paying "fees required by law" to transact business here (§ 2106(a), (5) using a corporate name that does not conflict with another California business (§ 2106(b)), and (6) continually

updating and amending its California filings to reflect any change in its name, principal office, agent for service of process, etc. (§ 2107).⁴

This is the only reasonable construction of sections 102 and 162: that the provisions of the Code apply to all "corporations," domestic or foreign, that are "organized under" Division 1—including by following the requirements of Chapter 21 for a foreign corporation to "transact intrastate business" in California. *See* Argument Part I.B below.

2. The California Constitution: Next, even if foreign corporations that transact intrastate business here are not "organized under" Division 1 (and thus subject to the Division per sections 102 and 162), this Court should still hold that section 2010 applies to such corporations under the California constitutional analysis set forth in the 1986 appellate-court decision in *North American Asbestos Corp. v. Superior Court (Young)* (1986) 180 Cal.App.3d 902 ("*North American II*").

In short, *North American II* holds that section 2010 must apply to foreign corporations that transact business here under the California Constitution, which guarantees that foreign corporations cannot "transact business" here under "more favorable conditions" than apply to domestic corporations. *See id.* at 907-909; Corps. Code § 191 ("transact business" = "repeated and successive" business here). Under section 2010, domestic corporations cannot limit their liability by dissolving. But if section 2010 does not apply to foreign corporations transacting business here, then such foreign corporations can (if their state of incorporation provides for it)

⁴ Here, Diamond for decades followed these procedures to obtain and maintain a certificate of qualification to transact business in California. *See* RJN 2, Exhs. A, B at 3-4; Factual and Procedural History, Part A, below.

escape liability by dissolving—without question a more "favorable" condition. *See* Argument Part I.C below.

3. <u>Policy considerations</u>: Finally, section 2010 <u>should</u> be construed to apply to both domestic and foreign corporations to promote California's policy of protecting its citizens injured by defective products.

Other states may place a premium on the protection of corporate interests. Indeed, Delaware has adopted a corporate-dissolution law that allows a manufacturer of a defective product, instead of taking steps to prevent any future injuries (such as by a product recall), to choose reasonably choose to dissolve, knowing that it will soon cut off any future liability.

But that is not the policy of California. Our Legislature has instead placed a premium on protecting its citizens, including by placing no temporal limits on post-dissolution suits against culpable corporate actors. That policy is advanced only by applying section 2010 to all corporations who choose to transact business here. And the policy concern is particularly acute in cases, like this one, where the defect in the manufacturer's product causes injuries decades later. Under the Delaware approach, a manufacturer who knows that its product will likely injure dozens or hundreds or even thousands of people in the future can escape all liability for its past misconduct by simply dissolving itself long before any injuries occur (here, before any diseases manifest).

That is not the policy of California. Here, where the governing California statute is at most ambiguous about whether it applies to foreign corporations, California policy demands that the statute be interpreted to apply to all foreign corporations who choose to transact intrastate business by selling their defective products here. *See* Argument Part I.D below.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. Factual background: Delaware corporation Diamond transacted business in California, exposed plaintiff and others to its asbestos, left California, and then later dissolved itself as lawsuits mounted—all before plaintiff's disease manifested.

In this action that was dismissed on demurrer, plaintiffs Walter and Karen Greb allege that defendant Diamond manufactured asbestoscontaining products to which Walter was exposed while working at U.C. Davis from the 1950s to the 1970s. JA 3:20-21, 4:15, 7:22-9:1, 29:5-6.

Although Diamond was incorporated in Delaware (JA 46-48),
Diamond exposed Walter to its defective product at U.C. Davis because
Diamond for almost 50 years actively transacted business in California—i.e.,
Diamond came here to do "repeated and successive" business. See Corps.
Code § 191. To do so, Diamond followed the statutory procedures of
Division 1 of the California Corporations Code, obtaining the required
Certificate of Qualification to "transact intrastate business" here. See RJN 2,
Exh. A, B at 3:14-15, 4:1-7; see also Corps. Code §§ 2105-2106.

In the 1980s—after Greb was allegedly exposed to Diamond's asbestos but long before his latent asbestos disease was to manifest—Diamond ceased doing business. In 1983, Diamond stopped doing business in California, officially "surrendering" its qualification to transact business here pursuant to Corporations Code section 2112. *See* RJN 2, Exh. A (last page). And by 1987, Diamond was completely out of business, with no operating assets or employees anywhere. *See* RJN 2, Exh. B at 3:25-27 (Diamond's admission in General Order interrogatory answers).

But Diamond did not then dissolve itself, remaining incorporated in Delaware for two more decades. *See* JA 46-48.

As the years passed, however, people who had been exposed to Diamond's asbestos products began to get sick—and to file suit. In San Francisco alone (reflecting Diamond's past business activity in Northern California), suits against Diamond climbed from one in 2001 to four in 2003 and 2005 to six in 2007. *See* RJN 2, Exh. C (S.F. Superior Court docket).

Diamond has insurance to cover these asbestos claims. In responses to General Order interrogatories in San Francisco, Diamond has admitted to at least \$10 million in insurance coverage for asbestos claims like plaintiffs' claims here. RJN 2, Exh. B at 17-18 (Response to Interrogatory No. 26).

But faced with the growing wave of suits, Diamond—or, likely, Diamond's insurers—moved under Delaware law to "dissolve" Diamond effective July 1, 2005. JA 46-48. Under Delaware law, this dissolution cut off lawsuits against Diamond three years later—*i.e.*, on July 1, 2008.

Walter was then diagnosed with terminal mesothelioma, filing suit by the end of 2008, as discussed below. JA 1-17.

B. The trial court sustained Diamond's demurrer to plaintiffs' complaint on the ground that Diamond, having dissolved itself, cannot be sued under Delaware law.

On December 22, 2008, plaintiffs filed their complaint against Diamond (and other defendants), alleging against Diamond causes of action for negligence and strict product liability. JA 1-17. Plaintiffs' accompanying Preliminary Fact Sheet stated that Walter was exposed to asbestos at four locations, including from 1953 to 1983 at U.C. Davis. JA 29:3-6.

Although Diamond is dissolved, plaintiffs seek compensation from Diamond's multi-million insurance coverage, as authorized by Corporations Code section 2011. *See* RJN 2, Exh. B at 17-18; Corps. Code § 2011.

On February 13, 2009, Diamond demurred to the complaint on the ground that Diamond "lacks the capacity to be sued." JA 31:25-28. According to Diamond, (1) Delaware Corporations Code section 278 allows a corporation to be sued after dissolution for only three years, and (2) California's post-dissolution law (Corporations Code section 2010) does not apply to foreign corporations like Diamond, so that no conflict between California and Delaware law exists, so that (3) Delaware law alone governs and bars any suit against Diamond. JA 36-39. Diamond also argued that, if the state laws conflict, Delaware law should be applied over California law (under governmental-interest analysis). JA 40-41.

Plaintiffs opposed the demurrer, arguing that (1) section 2010 applies to foreign corporations like Diamond, and (2) choice of law analysis favors applying California law. JA 73-76.

On May 1, 2009, the trial court sustained Diamond's demurrer without leave to amend, ruling that "section 2010 does not apply to Diamond," so that "there is no conflict" of law and Delaware law applies and bars the action. JA 116:19-22. The court therefore did not address the choice-of-law issue. *Id.* The court then dismissed the action with prejudice. JA 118.

C. The appellate court affirmed, ruling that the Corporations Code generally applies only to "domestic" corporations.

Plaintiffs timely appealed, arguing again that (1) section 2010 applies to foreign corporations like Diamond, and (2) choice-of-law analysis requires application of California law. JA 129; AOB at 13-26.

The appellate court affirmed, ruling that "section 2010 does not apply to foreign corporations" (Opinion at 12-15) for the following stated reasons:

- 1. Corporations Code sections 102 and 162, applying the Code generally to "corporations organized under this division" (Division 1, sections 100-2319), "evince a clear intent to limit the Corporations Code's general application to <u>domestic</u> corporations." Opinion at 12-14 (emphasis added). According to the court, applying section 2010 to any foreign corporations "would render" sections 102 and 162 "meaningless." Opinion at 15.
- 2. Section 2115 "identifies" specific Corporations Code chapters that "apply to foreign corporations meeting certain threshold requirements" but "does not mention section 2010." Opinion at 14. According to the court, that provision shows that if the Legislature had intended section 2010 to apply to foreign corporations, "it would have stated so explicitly." Opinion at 14.

Because the appellate court held that section 2010 does not apply to Diamond, the court did not address plaintiffs' choice-of-law arguments.

D. The Opinion presents a conflict among the Courts of Appeal.

As plaintiffs noted in their petition for review here, the Opinion below adds to an extant conflict in the appellate courts on whether section 2010 applies to foreign corporations like Diamond:

- 1. North American II holds that section 2010 "conflicts with, and prevails over, foreign corporation laws that limit survival periods of dissolved corporations." Opinion at 8; see North American II, 180 Cal.App.3d at 909-910.
- 2. Riley v. Fitzgerald (1986) 178 Cal.App.3d 871 ("Riley") holds that section 2010 "does not apply to foreign dissolved corporations." Opinion at 8; see Riley, 178 Cal.App.3d at 876-877.

3. The Opinion below follows *Riley*, and rejects *North American II*, holding that section 2010 applies only to California corporations and thus provides no protection to California citizens injured by dissolved foreign corporations.⁵

In light of this conflict, this Court granted review.

⁵ We discuss the reasoning of the Opinion, *North American II*, and *Riley* in context in the Argument section below.

ARGUMENT

I.

This Court should hold that Corporations Code section 2010 applies to foreign corporations, like Diamond, that "transact intrastate business" in California.

This Court should reverse the Opinion below by holding that Corporations Code section 2010 applies to foreign corporations, like Diamond, that choose to actively "transact intrastate business" in California. A holding that section 2010 applies to such foreign corporations is compelled by (1) the provisions of the Corporations Code, (2) the protections and guarantees of the California Constitution, and (3) California's strong public policy considerations.

A. Standard of review: de novo.

The issue presented is whether section 2010 applies to Diamond, a dissolved Delaware corporation that transacted intrastate business in California. This is a pure question of law, asking this Court to determine the proper interpretation of a statute. Hence, as the Opinion below correctly notes, the standard of review is *de novo*. *See* Opinion at 2 (*citing Farm Raised Salmon Cases* (2008) 42 Cal.4th 1077, 1089 n.10).

B. The Statute: The Corporations Code, properly construed, applies section 2010 to foreign corporations that "transact intrastate business" here.

Analysis of whether section 2010 applies to dissolved foreign corporations like Diamond begins with analysis of the statute itself.

As the Opinion below correctly notes, if the "words of the statute" have a "well-established meaning," those words control without resort to any

further "construction" of the statute. Opinion at 10 (citing Arnett v. Dal Cielo (1996) 14 Cal.4th 4, 24).

We therefore begin by analyzing section 2010 and any other applicable Corporations Code provisions that give meaning or limitation to section 2010. And that analysis shows that (1) section 2010 is not clear on its face, (2) other definitional provisions indicate that section 2010 applies to foreign corporations that transact intrastate business in California, and (3) none of the provisions cited by the Opinion below preclude or hinder a ruling that section 2010 applies to Diamond.

1. The relevant provisions of the Corporations Code.

The Corporations Code is divided into several "Titles," which are themselves divided into "Divisions" and "Chapters." This appeal concerns Title 1 ("Corporations"), Division 1 ("General Corporation Law").

Division 1 is codified as Corporations Code sections 100-2319 and is divided into 23 Chapters.

We now discuss the pertinent provisions of Division 1.

a. Section 2010: Post-dissolution rules for "corporations."

California's post-dissolution law at issue here is section 2010, which is part of Division 1's Chapter 20 ("General Provisions Relating to Dissolution," sections 2000-2011).

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