SUPREME COURT

NOV 1 6 2010

Frederick K. Onlinch Clerk

In the

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

WALTER GREB and KAREN GREB

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

VS.

DIAMOND INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION,

Defendant and Respondent,

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE, APPEAL NO. A125472; ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN FRANCISCO, THE HONORABLE PETER J. BUSCH, JUDGE PRESIDING, CASE NO. CGC-08-274989

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

California, corporations, unless otherwise expressly stated." Sterling, The New General Corporation Law of California (1931) 6 L.A. Bar Assoc. Bulletin 368.

That the General Corporation Law historically was not intended to generally apply to foreign corporations was further observed when the new Corporations Code was drafted as A.B. 376. At that time it was noted that as to A.B. 376: "The bill revises a major part of the law governing business corporations. Major changes are as follows: 5. Foreign Corporations: Present California law does not apply to a corporation incorporated elsewhere, even though all of its business may be conducted in this state. Under this bill, foreign corporations would be subject to our laws that protect shareholders and creditors if half or more of both the corporation's business and shareholders are in this state. Whether 50 percent or more of its business is done in California is determined by averaging out its property, payroll and sales figures. (Sec. 2115)" Assem. Com. on Judiciary, Digest of Assembly Bill No. 376 (hearing date May 1, 1975), p.3. That provision became Corporations Code section 2115 – which does not apply section 2010 to foreign corporations even when half the business and shareholders are in California.

While the foregoing makes it clear that the Legislature never intended § 2010 to apply to foreign corporations, this is further evident from the language of the Code. In the first place, while § 2115 specifies that several particular sections of Division 1 apply to foreign corporations, conspicuously, § 2010 is not among them.

Riley, supra, 178 Cal.App.3d at 876 ("[c]onspicuous by its absence is section 2010."); accord, Opinion at 14.)¹⁵ Secondly, several provisions in Division 1 expressly state that they apply to foreign corporations, (see §§ 208, 1108(a)-(f), 1157(a)-(f), 1201(d), 1202(c), 1501(g), 1600(d) and 1602,), yet § 2010 does not state that it applies to foreign corporations. The obvious conclusion is that the Legislature did not intend § 2010 to apply to foreign corporations.

That § 2115 does not set forth all of the requirements in the Code which apply to foreign corporations, as noted by Plaintiffs, proves nothing. (See POB at 22.) The bottom line is that the Legislature had two opportunities to expressly apply § 2010 to foreign corporations, either in § 2115 or, in the text of § 2010 itself, but did not do so.

- D. The Court Should Not Adopt The Constitutional Analysis

 Employed By The North American II Court.
 - 1. Plaintiffs' Reliance On Repealed Provision Of The
 California Constitution, Article XII, § 15 Flies In The
 Face Of The Premise Of Their Argument.

Plaintiffs go to extreme lengths to persuade this Court that foreign corporations such as Diamond should be regarded as "organized under" the laws of California. (POB at 16-25.) Thereafter, Plaintiffs' rely on the reasoning of the North American II decision for the proposition that § 2010 was meant to apply to foreign corporations—a decision grounded in the language of former Article XII, § 15 which read: "No corporation organized outside the limits of this State shall be allowed to transact business within this State on more favorable conditions than are prescribed by law to similar corporations organized under the laws of this State." (See POB at 25-29.) The language of Article XII, § 15 not only illustrates the unalterable fact that corporations are not organized under the laws of two different states but, more importantly, demonstrates the blatant contradiction in Plaintiffs' reliance on North American II: In one

breath Plaintiffs claim Diamond was organized under the laws of California, yet in the next breath they claim Diamond should be viewed as "organized outside the limits of this State". This clearly signals the inconsistency of their positions.

2. The Reasoning Of North American II Is Fundamentally Flawed.

In North American, a personal injury claimant sued a dissolved Illinois Corporation after the expiration of the Illinois' survival statute. The court held that § 2010 should not be read to exclude foreign corporations "under the circumstances of the case at bench, but should be read to protect the interests of California." North American II, supra, 180 Cal. App. 3d at 908. The court based its reasoning, which the Court of Appeal fairly described as "convoluted", on an interpretation of a California constitutional provision adopted in 1879, yet repealed in 1972. Id. (See Opinion at 9.) The North American II court surmised that because this constitutional provision was in effect when the original version of § 2010 was adopted--in 1929--the California Legislature must have intended that § 2010 apply to all corporations, both domestic and

3. The Approach Followed By North American II In
Interpreting § 2010 Fails To Abide By Standard
Principles Of Statutory Construction.

Rather than beginning its analysis with the language of the Corporations Code itself, the North American II court began its analysis by utilizing an archaic constitutional provision, now repealed, as its primary interpretive tool. This approach is flawed because "although a court may properly rely on extrinsic aids, it should first turn to the words of the statute to determine the intent of the Legislature. If the words of the statute are clear, the court should not add to or alter them to accomplish a purpose that does not appear on the face of the statute or from its legislative history." Page v. Superior Court (1995) 31 Cal.App.4th 1206, 1211; see also, Miklosy v. Regents of Univ. of California (2008) 44 Cal.4th 876, 888 ("If the statutory language is unambiguous, we presume the Legislature meant what it said, and the plain meaning of the statute controls.") See, Opinion at 10.

North American II's resort to historical evidence, to the exclusion of the plain language of the statute, is improper and should be rejected. As recognized but ignored by the court in North American II, "[t]he transaction of business in California by foreign corporations also is governed by extensive statutes." North American II, supra, 180 Cal.App.3d at 909. Those statutes, when read together, specifically, with §§ 102, 162, 2010, and 2115, as well as other statutes referenced earlier, unambiguously provide that California's dissolution statutes have no application to dissolved foreign corporations.

4. The North American II Decision Speculates As To
The Intent Of The Legislature.

In relying upon Article XII, § 15, it is assumed by the North

American II court that the Legislature had this constitutional provision
in mind when enacting § 2010. In support, the court points out that
§ 162 (which defines a corporation to include only "domestic"
corporations and corporations organized under Division 1) had not yet
been adopted when the predecessor to § 2010 (Civil Code § 339) was

enacted. <u>Id</u>. at 908-909. However, Civil Code § 278, the predecessor to § 162, which defined a corporation to mean only a "domestic" corporation, was enacted only two years later in 1931 (see former § 278, added by Stats. 1931, ch. 862, § 2, p. 1764). Even more compelling, Civil Code § 278 was enacted decades before the repeal of Article XII, § 15. Presumably, by repealing Article XII, the electorate understood the consequence of removing the only remaining bar to treating foreign corporations more favorable than domestic corporations.

In assuming what the Legislature intended, the North American III court also ignores the fact that the current statutory framework underwent significant revision in 1975, which included the simultaneous enactment of §§ 102, 162 and 2010. 1-1 Ballantine and Sterling California Corporation Laws § 6 (The General Corporation Law of this State was completed revised in 1975 to "modernize and streamline" the law). During the complete restructuring of the General Corporation Law in 1975, Article XII, § 15, had already been repealed (repealed in 1972). If the Legislature wanted to incorporate this repealed provision into the revised statutory framework, they could have. Instead, the Legislature enacted §§ 102 and 162,

concurrently with § 2010. Giving effect to each of these statutes, there can be no doubt that § 2010 does not have any application to foreign corporations. 3-18 Ballantine and Sterling California Corporation Laws Section 389 ("The General Corporation Law only applies to foreign corporations when its provision expressly so provide.").

Along the same lines, the court also fails to reconcile its decision with its prior decision in North American I. In North American I, the court found that § 2010 did not apply to foreign corporations relying, in part, on the following citation:

In a law review note entitled Foreign Corporations: Continuance of Existence After Dissolution (1947) 35 Cal.L.Rev. 306, the author observed that Civil Code section 399, the predecessor to Corporations Code section 2010, was applicable only to domestic corporations and suggested an amendment to include foreign corporations. No such amendment has taken place.

North American I, supra, 128 Cal.App.3d at 144. As the court did in North American II, Plaintiffs completely ignore the history of § 2010.

5. The North American II Decision Rests On The Faulty
And Illogical Premise That Article XII, § 15
Pertained To Corporate Dissolution.

Article XII, § 15, speaks of a level playing field between corporations transacting business. In contrast, § 2010 deals with dissolved corporations, i.e., corporations that are no longer transacting business. Presumably, the former constitutional provision applied only to ongoing business activities of a corporation. As dissolved corporations are no longer going concerns, it is a stretch to believe that the Legislature had this provision in mind when enacting § 2010.

Of course, the contention by the North American II court that § 2010 was intended to apply to foreign corporations makes no sense in the first place. California Corporations Code § 2010 and Delaware Code § 278 are survival statutes. Both statutes are tailored to govern the dissolution of their own domestic corporations, not foreign corporations. As pointed out by the court in Riley, it is well settled-and makes perfect sense--that each state would spell out the details as

to dissolution of its own corporations. Riley, supra, 178 Cal.App.3d at 876.¹⁶

6. The North American II Court Improperly Interpreted Other Provisions Of The Code.

North American II further argues that "[t]here are a myriad of statutory provisions that apply to foreign corporations that are not included in section 2115. And the absence of these statutory provisions is for a good reason, because they apply to all foreign corporations, not just to corporations which meet the percentage figures prescribed in section 2115." North American II, supra, 180 Cal.App.3d at 910. As pointed out earlier, this supposition overlooks the fact that § 2115 sets forth all the provisions in Division 1 that apply to foreign corporations to the exclusion of the law of the corporation's domicile and, is in direct contradiction to § 102. While it is true that certain sections of California Corporations Code not listed in § 2115 still apply to foreign corporations, such as § 1501,

It is equally logical that Chapter 21 of the Code, which applies to foreign corporations, does not include a survival provision for dissolved foreign corporations.

unlike § 2010, those sections <u>expressly</u> state that they are to be applied to foreign corporations.

Moreover, § 2115 operates concurrently with the other provisions of the Code. Havlicek v. Coast-to-Coast Analytical

Services, Inc. (1995) 39 Cal.App.4th 1844, 1852. Thus, a foreign corporation may be subject to the provisions of Code if a provision of the Code expressly so provides or if the corporation meets the specified minimum contacts outlined in § 2115. As previously explained, to adopt the reasoning of North American II would render § 2115(b) meaningless. Such an interpretation must be avoided. Id. at 1854.

E. Public Policy Is Defined By the Statute.

In a last gasp, Plaintiffs assert that § 2010 should apply to Diamond as a matter of supposed public policy. (POB at 29-32.) The Legislature, however, makes public policy. The statutory scheme that it enacted does not apply § 2010 to foreign corporations such as Diamond.

"[A]side from constitutional policy, the Legislature, and not the courts, is vested with the responsibility to declare the public policy of

the state" Green v. Ralee Engineering Co. (1998) 19 Cal.4th 66, 71; accord, Superior Court v. County of Mendocino (1996) 13 Cal.4th 45, 53 ("The judiciary, in reviewing statutes enacted by the Legislature, may not undertake to evaluate the wisdom of the policies embodied in such legislation; absent a constitutional prohibition, the choice among competing policy considerations in enacting laws is a legislative function"); City and County of San Francisco v. Sweet (1995) 12 Cal.4th 105, 121 ("When the Legislature has spoken, the court is not free to substitute its judgment as to the better policy".)

Consequently, courts must apply statutes according to their terms, not try to mold the statute to some undisclosed contrary intent. "In construing this, or any, statute, our office is simply to ascertain and declare what the statute contains, not to change its scope by reading into it language it does not contain or by reading out of it language it does. We may not rewrite the statute to conform to an assumed intention that does not appear in its language." <u>Vasquez v. California</u> (2008) 45 Cal.4th 243, 253.

Here, the Legislature has determined the relevant public policy.

It has clearly defined the outer limits of a "corporation" subject to

Division 1, and clearly defined which portions of Division 1 apply to

foreign corporations. It did not intend to apply Division 1 wholesale to foreign corporations, the result Plaintiffs urge.

Indeed, it is Plaintiffs' argument that would upend public policy. Plaintiffs' theory would mean that Division 1 applies to all foreign corporations that qualify to do business in California, because all such corporations would be considered "organized under this division." As noted earlier, foreign corporations would have to follow a litany of requirements regarding various corporate activities that their home state already regulates, which would wreak havoc with corporate planners. (See pp. 21-22 above.)

The Legislature's decision not to apply Division 1 wholesale to foreign corporations makes sense and comports with California's traditional approach of not applying its corporate law, and specifically its dissolution law, to foreign corporations. That statutory scheme — the one the Legislature enacted — is public policy. Under it, Diamond is not a "corporation" generally subject to Division 1 and § 2010 does not apply.

F. Because California and Delaware Law Do Not Conflict, The Court Need Not Apply The Governmental Interest Test.

Because § 2010 does not apply to Diamond, there is no conflict between Delaware and California law, and no need for a governmental interest analysis.

Specifically, "Analysis of a choice-of-law question proceeds in three steps: 'First, the court determines whether the relevant law of each of the potentially affected jurisdictions with regard to the particular issue in question is the same or different. Second, if there is a difference, the court examines each jurisdiction's interest in the application of its own law under the circumstances of the particular case to determine whether a true conflict exists. Third, if the court finds that there is a true conflict, it carefully evaluates and compares the nature and strength of the interest of each jurisdiction in the application of its own law "to determine which state's interest would be more impaired if its policy were subordinated to the policy of the other state" [citation], and then ultimately applies "the law of the state whose interest would be the more impaired if its law were not applied." [Citation.]' (Kearney v. Salomon Smith Barney, Inc. (2006) 39 Cal.4th 95, 107-108 [45 Cal.Rptr.3d 730, 137 P.3d 914].)

The fact that two states are involved does not itself indicate that there is a "conflict of laws" or "choice of law" problem. Hurtado v. Superior Court (1974) 11 Cal.3d 574, 580. If California law does not apply by its terms, there is no occasion for applying choice-of-law rules. Norwest Mortgage, Inc. v. Conley (1999) 72 Cal.App.4th 214, 228. Here, § 2010 does not apply. Because no conflict of law exists, there is no occasion to apply the governmental-interest test.

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